IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 24 1988

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By Deputy Clerk
CASE NO. 71-1389

GERALD DOBLY McCLOUD, :
Petitioner, :
vs. :
STATE OF FLORIDA, :
Respondent. :
_____ :

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SANDERS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 308846
POST OFFICE BOX 671
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Gerald Dobly McCloud was the defendant in the trial court in Circuit Court Case Nos. 85-4591-CF and 85-4592-CF and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, First District. He will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name.

The record on appeal contains the pleadings and transcripts in both Case Nos. 85-4591-CF and 85-4592-CF. The one volume record of pleadings will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. The transcripts of the two lower court proceedings are contained in 16 chronological and consecutively numbered volumes. References to the transcript will be designated as "T".

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed May 1, 1985, petitioner was charged in Circuit Court Case No. 85-4592-CF with Burglary of a dwelling, the property of [REDACTED], and in the course of committing the burglary made an assault upon Ms. [REDACTED] (Count I), and sexual battery upon Ms. [REDACTED] using or threatening to use a deadly weapon, to wit: a gun (Count II), which offenses allegedly occurred on March 21, 1985 (R 8).

In Circuit Court Case No. 85-4591-CF, petitioner was charged in a two-count information filed May 1, 1985, with burglary of a dwelling, the property of [REDACTED] with the intent to commit an assault and in the course of committing the burglary made an assault upon [REDACTED] (Count I), and sexual battery upon [REDACTED] using or threatening to use a deadly weapon, to wit: a knife (Count II), which offenses allegedly occurred on January 1, 1985 (R 6).

Petitioner was tried separately on the two informations.

A. Case No. 85-4592-CF

Jury selection in Case No. 85-4592 commenced on September 9, 1985. During the voir dire, the prosecutor used peremptory challenges to excuse eight black prospective jurors: [REDACTED] (T 139); [REDACTED] (T 140); [REDACTED] (T 141); [REDACTED] (T 141-142); [REDACTED] (T 142); [REDACTED] (T 146); [REDACTED] (T 147), and [REDACTED]

(T 149-150). The prosecutor did not strike a single white person. One black female, Ms. ██████ did sit on the jury.

After the state's fifth peremptory challenge, petitioner noted the pattern and objected on the ground that the challenges were exercised in a racially discriminatory fashion. Petitioner's motion to strike the venire was denied (T 142-144). Petitioner renewed his motion after the seventh black juror was excused by the state, which motion was again denied (T 147-148). When the state challenged Ms. O█████, a black female, as an alternate, petitioner again objected and asked the court to conduct a hearing into the reasons for the state's excusal of the eight blacks (T 150-151). While the state volunteered some reasons for its challenges, the prosecutor attempted to justify its actions on the ground that one black female was not struck (T 142, 151). The court denied petitioner's request for a hearing, stating:

I think they [the state] have stated sufficient reasons, that we have a record if those reasons are sufficient to create a systematic pattern of exclusion. I don't believe they are, but if the appellate courts feel like it, we've got the record. So, I'll deny the motion for any kind of a separate hearing on that issue.

(T 151).

Petitioner renewed his objections the next day before the trial commenced, specifically noting that of the 21 jurors originally seated, ten were black and only one was not excused by the state. Defense counsel pointed out:

Since the most recent decision dealing with the courts conducting hearings of

instances such as this, requiring the State -- or providing the State with an opportunity to justify the usage of their challenges, I'm beginning to see another pattern developing. That is, when there are a substantial number of black jurors on the panel, as there was in this case, I think there were approximately ten jurors originally seated who were black out of 21, that the State seems to be purposely leaving one black individual on the jury not exercising a challenge against that person, and using that factor as a means of justifying their other challenges.

(T 172-173). The trial court again refused to inquire into the state's motives, stating:

I think the definition of peremptory challenges are challenges the Court can't request any reason for, as long they are within the peremptory challenges. However, I realize the appellate courts have indicated that they want the State to be able to defend against -- they want the State to defend against charges of systematic exclusion of those jurors. I think in spite of Mr. Cofer's indication he wants to hear what the reasons are, whether it's an accusation of systematic exclusion, notwithstanding that, I don't think I can ask them for reasons on why they exercise peremptory challenges.

(T 174).

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found petitioner guilty of the lesser included offenses of trespass in Count I of the information and sexual battery with slight force in Count II (R 70; T 584).

B. Case No. 85-4591-CF

Jury selection in Case No. 85-4591 commenced on October 14, 1985. During voir dire, the prosecutor again exercised

peremptory challenges to excuse eight prospective black jurors:
██████████ (T 671); ██████████ (T 670-671); ██████████
██████████ (T 671); ██████████ (T 673); ██████████ (T 672);
██████████ (T 679); ██████████ (T 680); ██████████
(T 690). The prosecutor exercised only one peremptory
challenge to strike a white juror, R██████████ P██████████ whose father
was a court reporter assigned to that criminal division (T
615-616, 657,699).

Of the first six jurors initially seated, three were black
and subject to the state's backstrikes (T 670-671). When the
state struck two additional black jurors, petitioner moved for
a mistrial on the ground that the state was exercising its
peremptory challenges in a racially discriminatory manner.
Defense counsel noted that he had not exercised a single
challenge since the state began bumping all the blacks off the
jury panel (T 673, 678). The court sustained the purported
objection to backstriking, but overruled the motion for
mistrial, finding that the state excused some of the jurors for
reasons other than race alone (T673-674, 679). The prosecutor
justified its position by pointing out that petitioner
exercised each of its challenges against white females, but
asserted that "the State is not itself basing any of its
peremptory challenges on racial grounds" (T 674-675). The
prosecutor then stated its "reasons" for excluding each of the
blacks from the jury (T 675). McCloud renewed his motion for
mistrial when the state challenged the two remaining blacks on
the panel (T 679, 680), and also noted that the state

exercised its final peremptory challenge to excuse a black as an alternate juror (T 691).

Following a three day trial, petitioner was found guilty as charged on both counts of the information (R 81-81; T 1044).

Petitioner was sentenced on October 25, 1985, in both Case Nos. 85-4591 and 85-4592. He was adjudicated guilty on all charges. In Case No. 85-4592, the trial court sentenced petitioner to 60 days in the county jail in Count I and to 15 years imprisonment in Count II (R 97-101; T 1091-1092). In Case No. 85-4591, the trial court departed from the recommended guidelines sentence of 17 to 22 years, imposing concurrent terms of life imprisonment on both counts (R 89-93; T 1091-1092). The trial court's reasons for departure (R 94) were subsequently disapproved on appeal to the First District Court of Appeal. McCloud v. State, 517 So.2d 56,58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Although tried separately in each case, petitioner filed one notice of appeal for both cases (R 107), and the cases were consolidated for purposes of appeal.¹ Petitioner argued on appeal that the issue of racial discrimination in the jury selection was properly presented to the trial court in both trials, and petitioner met his initial burden of showing a

¹With leave of the Court, petitioner filed two briefs in the District Court in order to avoid confusion of the factual and evidentiary issues in each trial.

strong likelihood that the prospective jurors were challenged solely on the basis of race. Petitioner further argued that the state failed, in both trials, to show that the questioned challenges were not exercised on the basis of race.

The District Court rejected these arguments, finding that although petitioner timely objected and demonstrated on the record that the challenged jurors were members of a district racial group, petitioner did not present any further evidence of a likelihood that the prospective jurors had been challenged because of their race. The Court relied on a footnote in State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481, 487 n.10 (Fla. 1984), and its holding in Blackshear v. State, 504 So.2d 1330 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987),² to conclude that the mere demonstration of the exclusion of a member of blacks is not sufficient to entitle a party to inquire into the other party's use of peremptories. The court further held that the state's action of volunteering nonracial reasons for striking some of the jurors and the trial court's blanket acceptance of those reasons required affirmance of the trial judge's denial of the motions for mistrial in each case. McCloud v. State, supra.

Petitioner timely sought discretionary review in this Court, and by order dated April 27, 1988, this Court accepted jurisdiction. This appeal follows.

²The District Court's opinion in Blackshear was quashed by this Court after the decision in the instant case. Blackshear v. State, 13 FLW 192 (Fla. March 10, 1988).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner contends, contrary to the holdings of the lower court, that his timely objection to the prosecutor's use of peremptory challenges on prospective black jurors shifted the burden to the state to give racially neutral reasons for its strikes. Furthermore, the state failed to show that the questioned challenges were race neutral, reasonable or supported by the record. Petitioner is thus entitled to new trials.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL, WHERE THE STATE EXERCISED ALL EIGHT OF ITS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN CASE NO. 85-4591-CF UPON BLACK PROSPECTIVE JURORS AND EIGHT OF NINE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN CASE NO. 85-4591-CF TO EXCLUDE BLACKS, THUS RAISING A PRIMA FACIE SHOWING OF DISCRIMINATION BASED ON RACE, AND THE STATE'S REASONS FOR THE EXCLUSION OF BLACKS FROM THE JURY WERE INSUFFICIENT, CONTRARY TO ARTICLE I, SECTION 16, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND AMENDMENTS V AND XIV, UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

This Court, in State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), established the procedure a trial court must follow when faced with a challenge to the use of peremptory strikes based solely on race. The trial court in Neil ruled that the state did not have to explain why it had struck all these black jurors. This Court reversed that ruling, holding that when a party timely objects to the other party's use of its peremptory challenges, the objecting party must show that the challenges were used against members of a distinct racial group, and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race. The burden then shifts to the striking party to show that the questioned challenges were not exercised solely because of the prospective juror's race.

In State v. Slappy, 13 FLW 184 (Fla. March 10, 1988), and Blackshear v. State, 13 FLW 192 (Fla. March 10, 1988), this Court further defined the procedure to be followed when a challenge of racial discrimination in the use of peremptory

strikes is made. Slappy instructs that any doubt as to whether the complaining party has met its initial burden should be resolved in that party's favor.

[W]e affirm that the spirit and intent of Neil was not to obscure the issue in procedural rules governing the shifting burdens of proof, but to provide broad leeway in allowing parties to make a prima facie showing that a 'likelihood' of discrimination exists. Only in this way can we have a full airing of the reasons behind a peremptory strike, which is the crucial questions.... [W]e hold that any doubt as to whether the complaining party has met its initial burden should be resolved in that party's favor. If we are to err at all, it must be in the way least likely to allow discrimination.

State v. Slappy, 13 FLW at 185.

In the instant case, the record in both Case Nos. 85-4591 and 85-4592 leaves little doubt that petitioner met his initial burden regarding the likelihood that the state exercised its peremptory challenges solely on the basis of race. In the latter case, the prosecutor used all of its peremptories to exclude blacks; in the former case, the same prosecutor exercised nine peremptories, eight against blacks and one against a white juror who was the son of a court reporter in that criminal division. In both cases, black males were struck; black females were struck; employed and unemployed blacks were challenged; married blacks and single blacks were challenged, and blacks with children and without children were removed by the state. The only common thread in the state's use of its peremptory challenges was the race of the jurors. In each case, the victim was white and the defendant was black.

If these facts fail to show a strong likelihood of racial discrimination, as the court below held, petitioner maintains such a showing could never be made.

In Blackshear v. State, supra, this Court held, under almost identical facts, that the burden of proof clearly had shifted to the state. In Blackshear, as here, there was no indication that any of the excluded blacks would be unfair or partial. Indeed, here, the state initially accepted some black jurors (in Case No. 85-4591), only to backstrike them later. Petitioner timely objected to the state's exclusion of blacks and clearly demonstrated a strong likelihood that the petitioner jurors were being challenged solely because of their race. Petitioner met his initial burden under State v. Neil.

In Case No. 85-4592, the trial court refused to conduct a hearing as required by Neil because "I don't think I can ask them [the state attorney] for reasons on why they exercise peremptory challenges" (T174). This was plainly error. In both cases, however, the state volunteered reasons for some of its challenges. Petitioner submits these reasons failed to overcome the state's burden of proof.

Although the reasons for peremptory challenges need not rise to the level justifying a challenge for cause, the reasons must be neutral, reasonable and supported by the record. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986); State v. Slappy, supra. Moreover, the trial court must evaluate both the credibility of the person offering the explanation as well as the credibility of the asserted reasons. "A judge cannot merely accept the

reasons proffered at face value." State v. Slappy, supra at 185. The court below admittedly did just that.

A comparison of the voir dire examination of the excluded and seated jurors and the state's reasons for its challenges demonstrate that the explanations were not neutral, reasonable or supported by the record.

A. Case No. 85-4592-CF

The following eight jurors were challenged by the state below.

R [REDACTED] G [REDACTED]

Ms. G [REDACTED] had been a resident of Jacksonville for 44 years. She was employed in the Holiday Inn Restaurant, was divorced and had five children, two of whom were living at home (T 69-70, 106). The state gave no reasons for striking her.

H [REDACTED] L [REDACTED]

He had lived in the area for 22 years. He was employed as a landscaper, was divorced and had two children, ages 8 and 12 (T 74,109). The state challenged Mr. L [REDACTED] because "besides being a male, [he] had been convicted of loitering, so he does have a prior record" (T 142).

G [REDACTED] E [REDACTED]

Ms. E [REDACTED] was a job recruiter and supervisor for Royal Janitorial Service. She had recently retired after 24 years with Royal. She was married and had five children, three boys and two girls, between the ages of 23 and 30. One son and a

niece lived in her home (T 77-78, 113). The prospective juror volunteered that she was a minister (T 128). When asked whether her religious beliefs would cause a problem in passing judgement on another person, Ms. B█████ responded:

Well, no, you know, it's really something to think about, but my job is to keep it from getting this far. *** When they get this far, you know, my job -- you know, I can't come in here and do that, so my job is to just be honest and tell the truth, you know.

(T 132). Ms. B█████ iterated that she would have to tell the truth in returning a verdict (T 133-134). The state moved to strike Ms. B█████ for cause because "I think she's still got religious beliefs that would hinder her in reaching a verdict. I don't think she may want to follow the law" (T 141). The challenge for cause was denied, and the state exercised a peremptory challenge to excuse her (T 141). The state's reason:

As to Ms. B█████ the state struck her because she's a minister, and thinks that would hinder her in being able to render a correct verdict.

(T 143).

A█████ B█████

She is life time resident of Jacksonville and a second grade school teacher at Oak Hill elementary School. Her husband is a pharmacist at the VA Hospital. They have no children (T 78-79, 114). The state initially accepted Ms. B█████ as a juror (T 141), but then challenged her because [S]he didn't have any children; the state

struck her. And one of the victims in this case had children. The state figures that might be a reason to come back not guilty.

(T 143).

R [REDACTED] H [REDACTED]

He is a yardsman for U-Haul of North Florida, single, and has two children (T 79, 114). The state peremptorily challenged Mr. H [REDACTED] (T 142) because he is "20 years old, single, and young" (T 143).

L [REDACTED] W [REDACTED]

L [REDACTED] W [REDACTED] was retired, separated and had no children. Her home had been burglarized twice and she was convinced her husband did it (T 80, 96). Ms. W [REDACTED] did not want to sit on the jury: "I just don't want no more part of this;" "I just don't believe I would make the right decision" (T 97). When questioned by the court, she stated she would be able to render a verdict (T 98-99). In response to questions by defense counsel, Ms. W [REDACTED] stated that she could reach a verdict "best I know how," even though "I don't want to judge nobody" (T 134). The state moved to strike Ms. W [REDACTED] for cause because she did not want to suit in judgment. The court noted that the prospective juror did not want to be on the jury, but denied the challenge for cause because Ms. W [REDACTED] said she could render a verdict on the evidence (T 144-146). The state excused her because "I don't think she's qualified" (T 146).

G [REDACTED] R [REDACTED]

Ms. R [REDACTED] worked for Revlon. Her husband was a mechanic. She had five grown children. One daughter and two grand children were living at home (T 80-81). She was nervous about sitting on the case (T 86-87); she had been the victim of a purse snatching four years before and was still afraid as a result, but said she could base her verdict on the evidence (T 100, 123-124). Her daughter was mugged the first of the year and that case was still pending (T 125-126). The state challenged her (T 147) based on the same objections as to Ms. W [REDACTED] (T 149).

R [REDACTED] O [REDACTED]

The final juror excused by the state, Ms. O [REDACTED], worked at a candy shop, was single and had one daughter (T 82-83, 117). The state struck her as an alternate juror without stating a reason (T 150). This was the state's last peremptory challenge.

The following individuals served on petitioner's jury.

B [REDACTED] K [REDACTED]

She was a life long resident of Jacksonville and had recently been employed as a secretary at Associated Staffing. Her husband was a grocery buyer for Winn Dixie and they had three children, ages 8,12,15 (T 72, 107).

F [REDACTED] C [REDACTED]

Ms. C [REDACTED] was a maid in a dentist's office. She was divorced and had four adult children. One daughter and three grandchildren lived at home with her (T 73, 108). Ms. C [REDACTED] was the only black to serve on the jury (T 149).

M [REDACTED] R [REDACTED]

Mr. R [REDACTED] was a certified mechanic, divorced, and had no children (T 74, 108-109).

N [REDACTED] O [REDACTED]

Ms. O [REDACTED] was a professional nanny and also employed by the Jacksonville Jaycees. She was a widow and had five children between the ages of 21 to 30 (T 75, 109-110).

G [REDACTED] S [REDACTED]

Ms. S [REDACTED] was an invoice clerk. Her husband was in the Navy. She had two children and two step children, ages 10, 13, 21 and 26. Two of the children were living at home (T 77, 112).

P [REDACTED] O [REDACTED]

He was a hearing clerk in disability cases. His wife was a nurse. They had three children, ages 8, 11 and 13 (T 82, 116).

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