IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD DOBLY MCCLOUD,

Petitioner

v.

CASE NO. 71,899

60.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KURT L. BARCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SID J. WHITE JUN 15 1988 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Deputy Clerk

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner was the appellant below and the defendant in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court. A one volume record on appeal containing the pleadings in Case Nos. 85-4591-CF and 85-4592-CF will be referred to by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. The transcripts of the lower court proceedings will be referred to by use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent adopts the statement of the case and facts as set forth in the district court's opinion filed December 9, 1987. The appellant's statement of the case and facts as set forth in his initial brief on appeal in the First District Court of Appeal is also acceptable to the respondent.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The state's peremptory challenges of prospective black jurors were based upon racially neutral reasons. The factual findngs by the District Court and the trial court were correct and both courts correctly applied the law to those facts.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING PETITONER'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL SINCE THE STATE BASED ITS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN CASE NO. 85-4591-CF AND CASE NO. 85-4592-CF UPON RACIALLY NEUTRAL GROUNDS.

The petitioner contends that the District Court incorrectly held that the trial court was correct when it denied a motion for mistrial based upon an allegation that the prosecutor had improperly used peremptory challenges to exclude black jurors.

In <u>Neil v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) this Court enunciated the test that courts must use when confronted with an allegedly racially discriminatory use of peremptory challenges. The court stated:

> A party concerned about the other side's use of peremptory challenges must make a timely objection and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong liklihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race. If a party accomplishes this, then the trial court must decide if there is a substantial likelihood that the peremptory challenges are being exercised solely on the basis of race. If the court finds no such likelihood, no inquiry may be made of the person exercising the questioned peremptories.

State v. Neil, surpa, at 486. (Footnote omitted)

Thus, we learned from Neil that before requiring the offending party to demonstrate that the questioned challenges were not exercised solely because of a prospective jurors race, the offended party must: (1) make a timely objection; (2) demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group; and (3) demonstrate a strong likelihood that the prospective jurors are challenged solely on the basis of their race. Parker v. State, 476 So.2d 134, 138 (Fla. 1985); Cotton v. State, 468 So.2d 1047 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Finklea v. State, 471 So.2d 608 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The trial court and the District Court of Appeal made the correct finding that although a showing was made that the prospective jurors belong to a distinct racial group the petitioner had failed to demonstrate a "strong" likelihood that the prospective jurors were challenged solely on the basis of race. In the trial court the petitioner relied solely upon the number of black jurors excluded to establish that the peremptories were exercised on racial grounds. The trial court made no specific findng that a systematic pattern of exclusion existed. Moreover, the District Court of Appeal correctly followed language in the Neil decision which stated that the exclusion of a number of blacks by itself was insufficient to trigger an inquiry into a party's use of peremptories.

In <u>Slappy v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 184 (Fla., March 11, 1988) this Court recognized that the issue was not whether several

- 5 -

black jurors had been excluded because of their race, but whether any juror had been so excluded. In the case below, the petitioner did not present any evidence to the trial court to suggest that even one black juror had been excluded because of race. Rather, he relied upon the <u>number</u> of challenges exercised by the state to establish his complaint. Had the petitioner presented evidence of even one exclusion because of race, the burden to demonstrate racially neutral reasons would have shifted to the state. <u>Slappy</u>, supra. This burden was not met and thus no error occurred.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u>, the petitioner had met his burden, an examination of the record in both trials establishes that the state's reasons were racially neutral, reasonable and not a pretext. The trial court which, was in the best position to evaluate the reasons in light of the voir dire examination, the facts of the case and the demeanor of the prospective jurors, made the finding that the prosecution had "stated sufficient reason" for its challenges.

In Case No. 85-4592-CF, the state challenged eight jurors:

The state stated no reason for striking her.

Mr. Landstein testified that he was employed as a landscaper

- 6 -

and had lived in the area for 22 years. He was divorced and had two children. (T 74, 109) The state challenged Mr. Location because he had a prior conviction for loitering. (Tr. 142) The respondent submits that it is common practice to exclude a juror with a prior record since, from a prosecution's standpoint, he may be overly sympathetic to the defendant.

G B

The record indicates that Ms. B**arrows** testified that she was a minister. (R 128) She also related that she had retired after 24 years of service with Royal Janitorial Service. Her testimony indicated that she had five children. (T 77-78, 113) The state challenged Ms. B**arrows** for cause on the grounds that her religious beliefs could interfere with her ability to reach a verdict. The State excused her on a peremptory challenge after the court denied challenge for cause. (T 141) The exclusion of a person with strong religious convictions against judging others is sometimes advantageous to the prosecution. This peremptory challenge was clearly based upon a race neutral reason.

AB

The state excused A B B B because she had no children. The fact that she had no children is relevant to her ability to understand why the victim would not resist a sexual attack. Often a victim will not resist an attacker in their home when they fear for the lives of their children. The prosecutor

- 7 -

challenged her because:

She didn't have any children; the state struck her and one of the victims in this case had children. The state figures that might be a reason to come back not guilty. (Tr. 143)

R

Mr. H**and How** was excluded because of his age and because he was single. Although the exclusion of a juror because of age and marital status has been described as tenuous by one court, it was not determined to be an improper reason for peremptory challenge. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 849 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 9, 1986).

L

The prosecutor challenged Ms. We because she testified during voir dire that she did not want to judge anyone. Ms. We testified that her home had been burglarized twice and that she felt that her husband committed the offense. She also stated "I just don't want no part of it". She also stated that the experience of having her home burglarized would prejudice her in the case. (Tr 96-97) She stated that it hurt her to be on the jury and made her feel weak inside. She also stated that she did not believe that she could make the right decision. (Tr 97) The trial court denied the prosecutor's challenge for cause so he then excused her because he felt she was not qualified. The record of Ms. W**EXAMPS**s voir dire totally shows that she either did not want to sit on the jury or felt that she could not sit and pass judgment on another person. (Tr 97-99)

GREER

Ms. Remain also expressed reservations about sitting on the jury since she had been the victim of a crime approximately four years before. (Tr 100, 123-124) The prosecutor's challenge of this prospective juror was also correct and not based upon race. Ms. Remain also indicated that her daughter had been mugged and the case was still pending. (Tr 125-126) In regard to Ms. Remain and Ms. We it should be noted that the trial court stated that it was close to excusing those two jurors for cause.

RO

The state did not give reasons for challenging Mrs. O

In case no. 85-4591-CF, petitioner's second case, tried a month after the first, the state challenged the following prospective jurors:

B

The prosecutor removed this juror because she was unemployed. From a prosecutorial standpoint, this is clearly a valid reason. Often times a person who has been unemployed is a person who has been down on his luck and perceives the defendant as a person that is being set up by the same forces of society that have caused him to be unemployed. In the case of Ms. Weight, she was a housewife and unemployed. Often times a person who remains at home develops a limited understanding of the world around them because of the lack of intellectual stimulation in their environment.

J. F.

Mr. F was correctly challenged and removed from the jury because of his employment as an automobile salesman and the tone of his personality which troubled the prosecutor. The prosecutor was justified in removing an individual who may not be attentive to the proceedings or may have a personality that indicates a dislike for the prosecutor. In exercising the challenge the prosecutor stated:

> Your Honor, Mr. Farming - I am not particularly fond of that agency -- he is a car dealer. I don't like individuals on this type of jury that sell cars. Its just the tone of his personality has come through, has offended Mr. Dalaronda and I as it relates to this type of offense. (Tr 675)

The state did not question this prospective juror, however, enough questions were asked by the court to enable the state to observe the individuals demeanor and personality traits. Mr. Descent was challenged by the state because of his employment. Mr. Descent had been in the army for three years and worked in criminal investigations. (R 638) The record does indicate however, that the prosecution may have been striking this individual because of his prior employment rather than his current employment. In any event, employment is a valid reason for striking a juror. Because of Mr. Descent striking prosecution may have felt that he would have directed his attention more to the method of the criminal investigation rather than to the evidence presented in the case.

D

The prosecutor struck D**ensities** M**ease** because of being a convicted felon. This was a proper basis for the exclusion of the prospective juror.

Z

Mr. A was struck from the jury for the same reason as Ms. Morth. Striking an individual because of a criminal record is a valid reason which rebuts any presumptective juror, however, enough questions were asked by the court to enable the state to observe the individuals demeanor and personality traits.

RS

Start was struck because of a prior criminal record.

E

Ms. C**urrents** was struck because she was on "welfare and in the job corps". (R 690-691)

A D

The state challenged Mr. Deriver because of a prior criminal record. (Tr 680)

The state submits that the reasons expressed by the state were valid peremptory challenges of prospective jurors. As correctly pointed out by the court below, since Neil was decided, neither this Court nor any Florida district court, has specifically found a reason, given by the prosecutor, unacceptable. Obviously, the reasons for peremptory challenges are as widely diversified as the backgrounds of the attorneys that try cases. Each attorney has his own theory as to what is or is not a good juror in regard to his client's point of view. It is interesting to note that even defense counsel in case no. 85-4591-CF struck several white female jurors. (Tr 148) In case no. 85-4592-CF petitioner's attorney indicated that he had struck jurors based upon their race. He believed that he was permitted to do so. (Tr 676-678) From this Court's language in Neil it would appear that peremptory challenges by either party based soley on race are impermissible. The petitioner may have struck prospective jurors based upon race in an attempt to lead the prosecution into doing so to invite error. Respondent submits

- 12 -

that the State Attorney offered valid, race neutral reasons for the exercise of his peremptory challenges while the petitioner blatantly admitted that he used race to challenge prospective jurors. It seems clear, from Justice Barkett's opinion in <u>Slappy</u> <u>v. State</u>, where she quite resoundingly condemned racial discrimination in a court procedure that the petitioner's practice of excluding jurors is reprehensible and should be resoundingly condemned by this Court. It seems clear, that giving official sanctions to racial prejudice in a courtroom, whether by the state or by a defendant would, as pointed out by Justice Barkett, inflame bigotry in our society at large. Unquestionably, no citizen in this country should be improperly excluded from jury service by either party.

In case no. 85-4592-CF, the state did not provide reasons for the removal of two jurors. The respondent submits that the state was not required to provide reasons for any of the jurors since the trial court ruled that the defendant had not met its burden of demonstrating that there was a strong likelihood that prospective jurors were challenged solely because of race. Morever, there are often times reasons for peremptory challenge which will not appear on the record but are fully known to the prosecutor and to the trial court based upon their observations of the prospective jurors during voir dire. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 194 (Fla., March 10, 1988) note 1.

- 13 -

The petitioner points out in his brief that both employed and unemployed black males and females were struck by the state that married and single blacks were struck by the state and blacks with and without children were struck by the state and that there was no common thread in the use of the state's peremptory challenges other than race. Nothing in the <u>Neil</u> or <u>Slappy</u> opinions requires the state exercise its peremptory challenges based upon the same reason for each juror.

Furthermore, the petitioner claims that the challenges were not related to the facts of the case and were based upon reasons which equally apply to jurors who were not challenged. As an example, the petitioner points out that Mr. Hermite was excused because he was young and single, yet Mr. Remite was kept on the jury although he was also young and single. The problem is that the record doesn't reflect what Mr. Remites age was. Moreover, the State Attorney was not requested, nor is he required, to explain why he kept a juror. The petitioner also complains that Mr. Lemme was excluded because he had a prior misdemeanor conviction and he was a man, but complains that the state did not object to Mr. Remite or Mr. Other because of their gender. It is clearly race neutral and reasonable to exclude an individual because of a prior misdemeanor conviction.

The petitioner also compares the exclusion of A**dding** E**dings** to the retention of Mr. R**esult** A**dding** had no children.

- 14 -

Mr. Represented did. As explained by the prosecutor, a woman without children may not be able to understand why a woman would not resist an attack when her children were in the house.

In case no. 85-4591-CF, four of the prosecutor's peremptory challenges were because the prospective juror had a prior criminal record. (Tr 675-672, 679, 680) The remaining jurors were struck due to: (1) unemployment; (2) employment as a car salesman and his demeanor or tone of personality, (Tr 675), (3) prior criminal investigation employment, (Tr 638, 675), and (4) enrollment in the peace corps. Certainly, these are racially neutral reasons, reasonable and related to the individual cases.

As for the strikes based upon a criminal record, contrary to the petitioner's argument, the court may accept a prosecutor's assertion that a juror has been convicted of a crime without requiring the state to produce a certified copy of the judgment of conviction. A prosecutor is not required to mention the nature, extent or age of the jurors criminal record.

As pointed out by this Court in <u>Slappy</u> the trial judge must evaluate the reasons and the credibility of the person offering those reasons in light of the circumstances of the case. In the instant case, unlike <u>Blackshear</u>, the prosecutor unhesitatingly volunteered his reasons for the exercise of the challenges. Certainly the trial court evaluated the reasons in light of the

- 15 -

prosecutor's candor and readiness to enunciate his reasons.

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